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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
And its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C.
(Holding) (“the Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group™), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statements of income,
income and other comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of this report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code™) together with
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the State of Kuwait,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. We identified Key Audit Matters as follows:

Valuation of unquoted financial assets at fair

value through other preh ve
As stated in Note No. (7), the Group has unquoted Our performed audit procedures included, among other
financial assets at fair value through other procedures, the following:
comprehensive income measured at fair value 1- Our audit focused on carrying out audit procedures to
using market information and significant assess valuation methods used in valuation by
unobservable inputs. Value of such unquoted management.
financial assets at fair value through other 2- Our firm experts were used to carry out valuation of
comprehensive income is KD 11,047,139 and are methods and models used by management to arrive at
classified under level 3 representing 30% of the fair value of the financial statements at fair value
total assets of the Group. through other comprehensive income.

3- We valuated appropriateness of disclosures on such
Valuation of unquoted financial assets at fair value investments recorded in the consolidated financial
through other comprehensive income is a statements to achieve disclosure requirements
significant matter for our audit, as their nature and required by IFRSs.
fair value are substantially based on estimates that 4- We reviewed integrity and validity of the accounting
depend on judgmental assumptions and adopted records to register the fair value differences in the
valuation methods. consolidated financial statements under IFRSs.

5- We reviewed any limitations or pledges on these
assets and disclosed them under IFRSs requirements.

BDO AL Nisf & Partners is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of
independent member firms.
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Independent auditor's report (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Investment properties

As stated in note No. (§), investment properties were
stated at fair value. Valuation of investment properties is
one of the key audit matters as it includes significant
opinions and judgments. It represents a major part in total
assets of the Group, where their value is KD 12,812,815
and represents 35% of the total consolidated assets, which
substantially depend on estimates. Therefore, we
considered valuation of investment properties as a key
matter.

The Group’s applied policy requires recognition of
investment properties at fair value determined based on
independent valuers one of them is a local bank for local
properties and independent valuers for properties outside
the State of Kuwait and the lower value was adopted to
determine the fair value as at 31 December 2018. Fair
value of the Group’s investment properties was reached to
as at 31 December 2018 based on the valuation done on
that date by independent valuers who are not related to the
Group. Those valuers are licensed by the official bodies
and they have qualifications and latest experience in
valuation of properties at these locations. Fair value of
investment properties is determined based on comparable
market prices which reflect prices of recent transactions
for similar real estates and method of net discounted cash
flows model resulted from acquisition of such
investments. To estimate the fair value of such real estates,
it has been supposed that the current usage for the real
estates is the best usage for the same.

Other Information

2

1
1

S
i

W
T

N
7

Our audit of the investment properties has
focused on the following:

1- Ensure that the independent real estate
valuers have the appropriate qualifications
and licenses that enable them to provide
valuation services, and that they have recent
experience in valuating properties in the
places where the Group’s properties are
therein.

Valuation bases used by the independent
valuers were reviewed and checked that they
are generally acceptable in valuation.
Valuation reports provided by the
independent valuers were reviewed with
regard to accuracy of value calculation as
per the provided valuation details for
investment properties.

Integrity and validity of recognition of the
differences resulted from valuation in the
consolidated statement of income were
checked.

Validity and comprehensiveness of the
disclosures on investment properties in the
consolidated  financial —statements were
checked to achieve requirements of IFRSs.
Other audit procedures were carried out to
ensure that the investment properties were
measured, presented and disclosed in a fair
manner in accordance with the applicable
laws and IFRSs.

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the board of directors
report (excluding the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon) and Group’s annual
report. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this audit report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, we do not express any
conclusion in any way to confirm the same.

Our responsibility, with regard to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, is limited to reading the other
information and, in doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be significantly
misstated. If we concluded existence of significant errors in the other information received by us before date of
the auditor’s report, based on our carried out works, then we are required to report the same. We do not record
something in this regard.

BDO Al Nisf & Partners is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of
independent member firms.
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Independent auditor's report (Continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Parent Company’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The management is
also responsible for the internal control necessary for the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Parent Company’s management shall be responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s consolidated financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

BDO Al Nisf & Partners is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of
independent member firms.
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)

and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2018

Assets

Non-current assets

Investment properties

Available for sale investments

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Current assets

Investment properties for trading

Trade receivables and other debit balances
Investments at fair value through statement of
income

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets held for sale
Total assets

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Share premium

Statutory reserve

Treasury shares

Profit on sale of treasury shares reserve
Change in fair value reserve
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to the Parent Company’s
shareholders

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term Murabaha payables

Purchase of land payable

Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity
Provision for potential legal expenses

Current liabilities
Trade payables and other credit balances
Short-term Murabaha payables

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Notes

[< V]

11

12

31 December 1 January
31 December 2017 2017
2018 (Restated) (Restated)
KD KD KD

12,812,815 10,475,745 10,602,180
- 17,486,731 15,395,318
17,742,921 - -
30,555,736 27,962,476 25,997,498
- 1,875,000 2,130,000
277,012 304,668 889,549

- 3,089,331 2,123,461
5,581,848 3,827,943 3,414,256
5,858,860 9,096,942 8,557,266
47,849 43,916 190,307
36,462,445 37,103,334 34,745,071
19,103,898 19,103,898 19,103,898
830,286 830,286 830,286
1,452,034 1,452,034 1,452,034
(1,452,034) (1,452,034) (1,452,034)
46,038 46,038 46,038
2,357,928 4,047,803 2,125,766
(11,308,181) (12,397,394) (12,480,298)
11,029,969 11,630,631 9,625,690
2,114,325 2,062,205 1,924,972
13,144,294 13,692,836 11,550,662
12,780,000 12,780,000 12,780,000
2,329,424 2,329,424 2,329,424
928,486 833,271 771,600
245,475 245,475 -
16,283,385 16,188,170 15,881,024
1,322,774 1,510,336 1,601,393
5,711,992 5,711,992 5,711,992
7,034,766 7,222,328 7,313,385
23,318,151 23,410,498 23,194,409
36,462,445 37,103,334 34,745,071

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

+ )

/(/Moh&ﬁn:nﬁl Barrak Al Mutair

Chairman
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Consolidated Statement of Income

[For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
{Restated)
Notes KD KD
Revenues
Operating revenue 24 705,242 736,358
Activity costs 25 (500,423) (509.197)
Gross profit 204819 227,161
Losses from supervision contracts (1,630) (1,401)
Unrealized gain on investments at fair value through statement -
of income - 983,109
Gain on sale of investment properties 5 130,158 158,877
Gain on sale of available for sale investments - 4,958
Gain on sale of investments at fair value through statement of
income - 1,876
Impairment losses of assets held for sale 12 - (134,455)
Impairment Josses of investment properties held for trading 9 - (255,000)
Dividends 392,803 512,784
Change in fair value of investment properties 5 462,070 (126,435)
Net revenue from financial institutions 13 865 12,451
Operating income 1,202,085 1,383,925
Other income - 20,439
Foreign currency differences 977) (4,698)
Total revenues 1,201,108 1,399,686
Expenses
Provision for expected credit 1osses 10 (6,400) (102,720)
Provision for potential legal expenses 21 - (245,475)
(1,071,128
General and administrative expenses 26 ) (960,025)
Net profit before National Labour Support Tax and Zakat
expense 123,580 91,466
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of
Sciences 27 (6,356) (3,446)
Zakat Expense 28 (6,415) (1,378)
Net profit for the year 110,809 86,642
Attributabie to:
Cwners of the Parent Company 104,682 82,904
Non-controlling interests 6,127 3,738
110,809 86,642
Basic carnings per share (fils) 29 0.56 (.44

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Consolidated Statement of Income and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Net profit for the year

Consolidated other comprehensive income for the year

Ttems that are or maybe subseqguenily reclassified to the conselidated
statement of tncome:

Unrealized profit from value of available for sale investments

Items that witl not be subsequently reclassified ro the consolidated
statement of income:

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Total consolidated other comprehensive {loss) / income for the year
Total consolidated comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

2018 2017
KD KD
110,809 86,642
- 2,055,532
(668.904) -
(668,904) 2,055,532
(558,095) 2,142,174
(620,007) 2,004,941
61,912 137.233
(558,095) 2,142,174

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 47 form an integral part of these conselidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries

State of Kuwait

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Note
Operating activities

Net profit for the year

Adjustment for:

Unrealized gain on investments at fair value through
statement of income

Gain on sale of investments at fair value through
statement of income

Gain on sale of available for sale investments
Impairment losses of assets held for sale

Change in fair value of investment properties
Provision for expected credit losses

Provision for potential legal expenses

Net revenue from financial institutions

Impairment losses of investment properties held for
trading

Dividends

Provision for employees’ end of service indemmity

Movements in the working capital:

Trade receivables and other debit balances
Assets held for sale

Trade payabies and other credit balances
Cash used in operations

Employees’ end of service indemnity, paid
Net cash used in aperating activities

Investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of investments carried at fair
value through statement of income

Net movement in available for sale investments

Net movement on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Cash dividend received

Net revenue received from financial institutions

Net cash from investment activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11

2017
2018 {Restated)
XD KD

110,809 86,642
} (983,109)
- (1,876)
- (4,958)
- 134,455
(462,070) 126,435
6,400 102,720
- 245,475
(13,865) (12.451)
- 255,000
(392,803) (512,784)
256,981 102,020
(494,548) (462.,431)
21,256 482,161
(3,933) 11,936
(187,562) (91,057)
(664,787 (59,391)
{161,766} (40,349)
(826,553) {99,740}
- 19,115
- (30,923)
2,173,790 -
392,803 512,784
13,865 12,451
2,580,458 513,427
1,753,905 413,687
3,827,943 3414256
5,581,848 3,827,943

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 47 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

1

Incorporation and activities

Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding) (“the Parent Company™) is a closed Kuwaiti
shareholding company incorporated on 19 January 1980 in accordance with the Companies Law in the
State of Kuwait, The Parent Company’s shares were listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange on 12 April
2005. Latest amendment to articles of association of the Company is dated 11 May 2013, the amendment
was made to regularize the Company’s affairs with provisions of companies law, This was registered in
the commercial register under No. 338 on that date.

The Parent Company’s objectives:

® Preparing studies and providing consultancy in the real estate sector in all its types.

e Practice all types of real estate activities i.e. purchase, sell, acquire, allocate and develop lands and
real estate. Construct buildings and establish real estate, commercial, residential, industrial and
touristic projects. Carry out them directly or through other parties for own or third party account.

e [Lstablish and manage real estate investment funds inside and outside the State of Kuwait (after
approval from the Central Bank).

¢ Plan, finance and carry out the real estate projects offered by the State.

Utilize the real estate properties and manage them for the Company’s own account or for third parties
inside and outside the State of Kuwait.

o Utilize the financial surpluses of the Company by investing them in real estate companies or financial
portfolios managed by other specialized entities whether inside and outside the State of Kuwait.

* Acquire, manage, lease and rental of hotels, health clubs and touristic facilities.

* Acquisition, management, operation, investment, lease, and rent of hotels, health clubs, motels, guest
houses, rests, parks, gardens, showrooms, restauranis, cafeierias, residential complexes, commercial
malls, tourist and health resorts, recreational and sports projects and shops of different grades and
fevels including all original and auxiliary services and facilities thereto and other necessary services.

¢ Organizing real estate exhibitions related to the Company’s real estate projects as per the applicable
regulations.

¢ Arranging real estate auctions as per the applicable regulations.

s Acquisition, sale and purchase shares and bonds of real estate companies and funds in favor of the
Company in Kuwait and abroad.

¢ The Company has the right to receive all types of agencies related (o its aclivities and the right to
establish its subsidiaries and affiliates inside and outside the State of Kuwait.

¢ Direct contribution in the infrastructure of residential, commercial, indusirial and environmental areas
and projects and management of real estate facilities through (BOT) system.

¢ [stablish, invest in and manage engincering laboratories related to real estate investment.

Ali of the objectives are subject to the provisions of law and does not contradict with Islamic Shari’a
principles.

The Parent Company shall, in conducting its business activities, comply with the Noble Islamic Sharia
principles. By no means shall the above objectives be interpreted in a way that allows the Company 1o
carry out usurious business, directly or indirectly, whether in a form of interests or any other form that
conlradict the transactions” provisions of the Islamic Shari'a.

The Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group™).
Details of subsidiarics are disclosed in Note No. (3.4).

The address of the Parent Company is P.O. Box 26371, Safat 13124, State of Kuwait.

10
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding}
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FFor the year ended 31 December 2018

a)

Incorporation and activities (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements of Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.S.C (Holding) and its
subsidiaries (the Group) for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorized for issue by the Parent
Company’s board of directors on 25 March 2019 and are subject to the approval of the annual general
assembly of the shareholders. The Parent Company’s sharcholders have the power to amend these
consolidated financial statements at the shareholders’ annual general assembly.

Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“II'RSs”)
New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2018

The accounting policies applied by the Group are consistent with those used in the previous year except
for the changes resulted from implementation of the following new and amended International Financial
Reporting Standards as at 1 January 2018:

Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

These amendments become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, These

amendments address three main aspects as follows:

s The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction

o The classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding
tax obligations

e The accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled.

The application of these amendments did not have any material impact on the Group,

Amendments to IFRS 4. Insurance Contracts (Applving IFRS 9: Financial instrumentis)

These amendments become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The
amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new standard IFRS 9 (Financial
instruments), before implementing 1IFRS 17, which replaces IFRS 4. The amendments introduce two
options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an
overlay approach.

The application of these amendments did not have any material impact on the Group.

IERS 9 Financial Instruments

This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and replaces the
existing guidance in IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 specifies how
the entity should classify and measure its financial instruments and inciudes a new expected credit loss
model for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements.
It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from [AS

39.

For the initial application of IFRS 9 and its effects, kindly refer to Note (2 - C) below.

IFRS 15 - Revenue firom contracis with customers

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and establishes a
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. It
replaces the following existing standards and interpretations upon its effective date:

11
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Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2.

a)

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continuned)
New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

IERS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

e IAS 18 - Revenue,

¢ IAS 11 ~ Construction Contracts,

e IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programs,

e [FRIC 15— Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate,

e IIFRIC 18 - Transfers of Assets from Customers, and,

¢ SIC 31 - Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

For the initial application of IFRS 15, kindly refer to Note (2 - C) below.

IERIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and clarifies
that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or
income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a nonmonetary asset or non-monectary liability relating to
advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the
non-monctary asset or nonmonetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each
payment or receipt of advance consideration. These inlerpretations did not have any material impact on
the Group.

Amendments to I14S 40: Investment Property - Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or development, into or
out of investment properties. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property meets,
or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A
mere change in management’s intention for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change
in use.

The application of these amendments did not have any material impact on the Group.
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle:

Amendments to I4S 28 - Invesiment in Associates and Joint Ventures
The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2018, with carlier
application permitted.

The amendments clarify that:

a) An entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at initial
recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint
ventures at fair value through statement of income.

If an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is
an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect 1o retain the fair value
measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venlure to the investment entity
associale’s or joint venture's interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each
investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which (i) the investment entity
associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (i) the associate or joint venture becomes an
investment entity; and (iii) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.

b

o

The application of these amendments did not have any material impact on the Group.
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Kuwait Real Istate Holding Company K.P.S.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2.
b)

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
Standards and interpretations issued but not effective

The following new and amended [ASB Standards have been issued but arc not yet effective, and have not
been applied by the Group:

IFRS 10 - Leases

This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This standard
will be replacing IAS 17 "Leases" and will require lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model in a similar way to finance leases under IAS 17 with limited exceptions for low-
value assets and short term leases. Al the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a
liability to make leasc payments and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term. The new standard does not significantly change the lease accounting approach for the lessors.
Early application is permitted, provided that IFRS 15 is applied on the same date.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 and plans to adopt the new standard on the
required effective date.

IFRS 17~ Insurance Contracts

This standard will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after t January 2021, and replaces
IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts, The new standard applies to all types of insurance contracts, regardless of
the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with
discretionary participation features. The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:

¢ A specific adoption for contracts with direct participation features (Variable fec approach).

* A simplified approach (premium allocation approach) mainly for short duration contracts,

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group

Amendments to IFRS 9: Benefits of advance pavimeni with negative compensation

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2019, with early
application permitted. Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI test) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that
classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a {inancial asset passes the SPPI test regardiess of
any event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party
pays or receives reasonable compensation for the carly termination of the contract.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2019, with carly
application permitted. The amendments clarify that the entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term investments in
the associate or jeint venture to which the equily method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of
the net investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term investments). This classification is relevant
because it implies that ECL model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-term investments.

The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of
the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, which are recognized as
adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying 1AS 28:
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group.

~
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2.

b)

<)

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
Standards and interpretations issued but not effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle (issued on December 2017):

MRS 3 - Business combinations

The amendments apply to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application permitted. The
amendments clarify that, obtaining control of a business that is a joint operation is a business combination
achieved in stages, including measuring previously keld investments in assets and liabilities of the joint
operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its previously held interest in the joint
operations.

LERS 11 - Joint arrangements

The amendments apply to transactions in which it obtains joint control on or after the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application permitted. A party that
participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain joint control of the joint
operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3. The
amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that joint operation are not remeasured.

IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs

These amendments will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with
early application permitted. The amendments clarify that the Group treats as part of general borrowings
any borrowing originally made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activitics
necessary (o prepare that asset for its intended use or sale are complete. The Group applies those
amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the Company first applies those amendments.

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the Group.
Application of new standards effective from 1 January 2018

The Group has initially adopted IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (see (A) below) (see A below) and IFRS
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers™ (see¢ B below) from 1 January 2018 as follows:

a. IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
This Standard replaces IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets and liabilities and some
contracts to buy or sell non- financial items. This standard also develops a new expected credit loss
model for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements.

The following table summarieses the impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on the opining balance of reserves and
carried forward losses.
Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on the
balances at beginning of the period

Notes KD
Change reserve in fair value of financial assets through
other comprehensive income 7 (51,450)
Accumulated carried forward losses 61,242
Non-controlling interests (9,792)
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

)

Application of new standards effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

a. FRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)
The details of new significant accounting policies and the nature and effect of the changes to previous

accounting policies are set out below.

Classification and measurement of the financial assets and liabilities

IFRS O largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities. However, it climinates the previous IAS 39 catlegories for financial assets held to
maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale financial assets.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies related to
financial liabilities. The impact of IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of financial assets is set
out below:

Under IFRS 9, on initial application, the financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income — debt investments, fair value through other comprehensive
income, equity investments or fair value through statement of income. The classification of financial
assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and
its contractual cash flow characteristics.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met and is not

designated at fair value through statement of income:

- It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and

- Its contractual termas give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive inconre

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. This
clection is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

Equity investment at fair value through statement of income

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income as described above are measured at fair value through statement of income. On
initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at ameortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income as
financial asset recognized at fair value through statement of income if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially
measured at the transaction price} is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not recognized at

fair value through statement of income, transaction costs that are directly atiributable 1o its acquisition.

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets.

Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at fair vahue. Net profits and losses,
fair value through including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in the statement of

statement of income  ipcome.
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2.
c)

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new standards effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

a. FRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of the financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Debt investments at
fair value through
other comprehensive
income

Equity investments
at fair value through
other comprehensive
income

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses (see a (b)
below). Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in statement of income. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recogaized in the statement of income.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
caleulated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in the statement of income. Other net
cains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to the
statement of income.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised
as income in statement of income unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the
statement of income.

The following table and the below note show reconciliation of original measurement categories and
carrying value in accordance with IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at 1 January 2018.

Note
Financial assets

Investments at fair
value through
statememt of income (a)

Avatlable for sale
investments (b)
Cash and cash

equivalents

Trade receivables and

ather debit balances
{excluding prepaid
eXPEeNses) (<)
Total financial

assets

Trade payables and
other credit balances
Murabaha payable

Original Original Original
classification in ~ New classification in carrying carrying Impact of
accordance with accordance with IFRS amount under amount under adoption of TFRS

1AS 39 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9 9
KD KD KD
Investments at
fair value through Financial assets at fair
statement of value through other
meome comprehensive income 3,089,331 3,089,331 (51,450)

Financial assets at fair
Available for sale value through other

investments comprehensive income 17,486,731 17,486,731 -

Loans and

receivables Amoritsed cost 3,827,943 3,827,943 -

Loans and

receivables Amortised cost 291,802 291,802 -
24,695,807 24,695,807 (51,450)

Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,510,336 1,510,336 .

Amoritsed cost Amortised cost 18,491,992 18,491,992 -
20,002,328 20,002,328 -

16

102



2018 (s sl a3l

Kuwait Real Estate Holding Company K.P.8.C. (Holding)
and its subsidiaries
State of Kuwait

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2.

¢)

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
Application of new standards effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
a. FRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of the financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

a) On the initial adoption of IFRS 9 under the Group’s business model, the Group has classified
investments at fair value through statement of income as investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

b) These equity securities represent investments that the Group intends to hold for the long term for
strategic purposes. As periitted by IFRS 9, the Group has designated these investments at the date of
initial application as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Unlike IAS 39, the
accumulated fair value reserve related to these investments will never be reclassified to statement of
income.

¢) Trade receivables and other debit balances that were classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39
are now classified at amortised cost. There is no allowance for impairment of such receivables
requires them to be recognised in opening retained eamings at 1 January 2018 on transition to IFRS 9.
There are no trade receivables and other debit balances recognised at 1 January 2018 on the adoption
of IFRS 15.

Impairment of Financial Assets

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an ECL model. The new impairment model
applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit
losses are recognised carlier than under TAS 39.

The financial assets carried at amortised cost consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other
debit balances and due from related parties.

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,

which are measured as 12-month ECLs:

- Debt sccurities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

-Other debt sccurities, bank balances, and ferm deposits (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
cxpected life of the financial instrument) have not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group has elected to measure; using the simplified approach, loss allowances for trade receivables
and other debit balances and due from related partics at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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2.

€)

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRSs”) (Continued)
Application of new standards effective from 1 January 2018 {Continued)
a. FRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 90

days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset (0 be in defanlt when:

- The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- The financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective
inferest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred,

Presentation of impairment
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Impairment losses related to accounts receivable and other debit balances, including coniract assets, are
presented separately in consolidated statement of income.

Impact of the new impairment model
The ECLs were calculated based on actual credit loss experience over the past 1 10 2 years., The Group
performed the caleulation of ECL rates for its customers.

Exposures within each group were segmented based on common credit risk characteristics such as credit
risk grade, geographic region and industry, delinquency status, age of relationship and type of product
purchased where applicable.

Actual credit loss experience was adjusted by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical data was collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Trade receivables and other debit balances
The management elected that the additional expected credit loss of trade receivables and other debit

balances, which were required under IFRS No. 9 were not material. Accordingly, the Group did not
record any additional credit losses of such balances.
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2.

¢)

3.1

3.2

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRSs”) (Continued)
Application of new standards effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
a. FRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

Transition

The Group has taken an exemption not to restate comparative information for prior periods with respect
o classification and measurement (including impairment) requirements. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised
in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017
does not generally reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 but rather those of IAS 39.

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the

date of initial application.

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.

- The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and financial
liabilities as measured at fair value through statement of income.

- The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

b. IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue
is recognised. It replaced IAS 18 *“Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and related
interpretations, IFRIC 13, IFRIC 15, JFRIC 18 and SIC 31.

The Group’s adoption of IFRS 15 on 1 Janvary 2018 has not resulted in any significant impact on the
Group’s the consolidated {inancial statements as at 31 December 2017 and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018,

Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs™) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB™), IFRIC interpretations as issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC™) and Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its executive regulations, as
amended.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“IKID”), which is the Group's
functional and presentation currency, and are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
fair value measurement of financial assels at fair value through other comprehensive income and
investment properties. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services,

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction among market participants at the measurement date. When measuring the fair value,
the Company takes into consideration characteristics of an asset or a liability if the market participants
took such characteristics into congideration when pricing the asset or Hability at the measurement date.
Such characteristics include status of the asset, its place and limitations imposed on its sale or usage.
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3.
3.2

3.4

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued)

The accounting policy No. 3.8 includes bases for fair value measurement. Further, Note No. 31 includes
additional information on levels of measuring the fair value and other information.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in compliance with adopted (“IFRSs™) requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the Group’s management to exercise
Judgments in applying the accounting policies. The areas where significant judgments and estimates have
been made in preparing the consolidated financial statements and their effect are disclosed in note 4.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the year's presented, unless otherwise
stated (except for what has been mentioned in Note No. 2 above).

Classification of assets and liabilities to current and non-current

The Group presents the assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
their classification to current and non-current.

The asset shall be deemed as current if;

a) Expected to be recognized, intended to be sold, or depreciated within the normal operational cycle.

b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading,

c) Expected to be recognized within twelve months following the reporting date, or

d) It is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve mouth period after the reporting period.

Except for the assets classified pursuant to the basis described above, all other assels not satisfying the

forgoing criteria are classified as non-current.

The liability shall be deemed as current if it is:

a) It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading.

c) Expected to be settled within twelve months following the reporting date, or

d) There is no conditional right for postponing settlement of the liability for a period of at least twelve
months after the reporting date.

Except for the liabilities classified under the basis described above, all other liabilities not satisfying the
forgoing criteria are classified as non-current.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial stalements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Parent
Company and its subsidiarics up to 31 December 2018. The date of the financial stalements of all
subsidiaries is 31 December.

Where the Parent Company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Parent
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the investor 1o use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the Parent Company has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In determining
whether de-facto control exists the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances,
including:
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3.

3.4

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

- The size of the Parent Company’s voting rights relative to both the size and dispersion of other parties
who hold voting rights

- Substantive potential voting rights held by the Company and by other parties.

- Other contractual arrangements

- Historic patterns in voting attendance.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control effectively commences until the date that control effectively ceases. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis by adding together like items of
assets, labilities, income and expenses. Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany
realized and unrealized profits or losses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Amounts reported in the
financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the net asscts of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the
Group’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of amount of those interests at the date of
otiginal business combination and the non-controlling entity’s share of changes in equity since the date
of the combination. l.osses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that
results in a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. For purchases from non-controlling
interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Profit or loss on disposals of non-controlling
interests is also recorded in equity.

Where the Parent Company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Parent
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the investor to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

from the investee, and the ability of the investor o use its power to affect those variable returns. Control
is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

When the Group ceascs to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value,
with the change in carrying amount recognised in the consolidated statement of income. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or labilities (i.e. reclassified to the statement of income or transferred directly to
retained earnings as specified by applicable IFRSs).
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3.5

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The subsidiaries of the Parent Company are as follows:

Percentage of Country of
Name of subsidiary holding incorporation Company’s objectives
2018 2017
Al Omran Real Estate
Development Company Investment and development of real
K.S.C. (Closed) 96% 96% State of Kuwait  estates and lands
Time Line Project Project management & maintenance
Management K.8.C. (Closed) 80% 80% State of Kuwait  in Kuwait and abroad.
Olive VFM Consulting -
Kuwait K.S.C. Closed 99% 99% State of Kuwait ~ Managensent consulting

Al-Fanar Investment
Company K.S.C. (Closed) 83.43% 83.43% State of Kuwait  Investment

Investment properties

This item represents properties under development (the Group did not hold any properties under
development at end of the year), properties where their future purposes are not determined (the Group did
not hold any propertics under this item) and developed properties held by the Group for generating lease
income, capital appreciation or for both purposes.

Investment properties are initially recognized at cost. Cost includes purchase price as well as transaction
costs. Transaction costs include professional fees of legal services, commissions and other costs required
to bring the property to its current status, in which the property shall be ready for operation to generate
rental revenues, or classified for achieving other purposes of being held. Carrying value of the property
includes cost of replacing part of the financial investment properties when such cost is incurred that
fulfills its criteria to be recognized as investment properties. Costs of daily services are not recognized
within costs of investment properties.

Subsequent to initial recognition of investment properties, investment properties are recognized at fair
value that reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Investment propertics are revalued annually
and are included in the consolidated statement of financial position at their open market values (received
value). Value is determined through external valuers having appropriate professional and credentials on
site and nature of the investment properties supported by an evidence from market.

Any profit or loss resuiting from either changes in the fair value or the sale of an investment property is
immediately recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they arise.

Transfers are made to investment properties only when there is change in usage. If an investment
property is transferred to an owner-occupied property, its cost shall represents the fair value of the
propetty at the date of usage change. If an owner-occupied property is transferred to investment property,
the Group shall account for it as per the IAS No. 16 related to property and equipment up 1o date of
usage change.

Investment properties are derecognized when sold or permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from selling them. Profits or losses from disposal of investment
properties by the difference between the net sales proceeds or carrying value of investment propertics,
and recognized in the consolidated statement of income at time of disposal.

Ne investment properties held under future leases were classified under investment properties.
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3.

3.6

3.7

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties for trading

Investment properties for trading are measured at the lower of their carrying value or fair vale less costs
to sell. Investment properties for trading are classified under the Group’s current assets, Profits or losses
on sale of investment properties held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of income
by the difference between sale value and the less carrying value.

Financial instruments

The Group classifics its financial instruments as financial assets and financial liabilities. Financial assets
and liabilitics are recognized when the Group becomes a party of the contractual provisions of such
instruments.

The financial assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position include
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other debit balances, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, trade payables and other eredit balances and Murabaha payables.

Financial assets

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

To determine the classification and measurement category of financial assets, IFRS requires assessment
of all financial assets, except for equity instruments and derivatives, based on the Group’s business
model for managing the Group’s assets and the contractual cash flows characteristics of these
instruments.

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages its financial assets
to achieve its business objectives and in order to generate contractual cash flows. That is, whether the
Group’s objective is solely to colleet the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the
contractual cash flows and cash flows ariging from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g.
financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of sell
business model and measured at fair value througl: statement of income. The Group’s business model is
not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios.

Purchases and sales of the financial assets are recognized on the trade date i.e. the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. The financial assets are initially recognized at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets that are not carried at fair value through statement of
income.

Purchases and sales of those financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets. The financial assets are initially recognized at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through statement of income.

The financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the
financial assets expire or when the Group transfers its right to receive cash flows from the {inancial assets
in either of the following circumstances: (a) when the Group transfers all risks and rewards of the
financial assets ownership, or (b) when all risks and rewards of the financial assets are not transferred or
retained, but the control over the financial assets is transferred. When the Group retains control, it must
continue to recognize the financial assets to the extent of its participation therein.
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3.

3.7

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets are classified in the consolidated financial statements into the following categories upon
initial recognition:

- Debt instruments at amortized cost.

- Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Subsequent Measurement
The financial assets at amortised cost consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other debit

balances and due from related parties.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks (current and saving accounts) and are
subject to an insignificant risk in terms of changes in value, and cash held with investment portfolios.

Trade receivables and other debit balances

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for sale of goods or leasing units or rendering
services in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective cost rate method, less provision for expected
credit losses.

Accounts receivable, which are not designated under any of the above are classified as “other debit
balances™.

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Upon initial recognition, the Group may elect to classify irrevocably some of its equity instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of Equity under 1AS (32)
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an
instrument-by- instrument basis.

Profits and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to the consolidated statement of
income. Dividends are recognized in consolidated statement of income when the right of the payment has
been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the instrument, in which case, such gains arc recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
instruments at fair value at other comprehensive income are not subject to an impairment assessment.
Upon disposal, cumulative gains or losses are reclassified from cumulative changes in fair value to
retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity.

The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income represent quoted and unquoted
equity investments.

Impairment of Financial Assets

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an (ECL model). The new impairment model
applies to financial asscts measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit
losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.

ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the asset’s original effective cost rate.
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3.
3.7

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

For contract assets, trade and other receivables, the Group has applied the standard’s simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. Accordingly, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk and assesses impairment on a collective basis. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
customers and the economic enviromment. Exposures were segmented based on common credit
characteristics such as credit risk grade, geographic region and industry, delinquency status and age of
relationship where applicable.

In applying this forward-looking approach, the Group applies a three stage assessment to measure ECLs

as follows:

» First stage: financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk and

e Second stage: (not credit impaired) - financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit
quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low

e Third stage: (credit impaired) - financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the
reporting date and assessed as credit impaired when one or more events have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows have occurred.

“12-month expected credit losses™ are recognized for the first stage while “lifetime ¢xpected credit
losses™ are recognized for the second stage.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument, ECLs that are measured at amortised cost arc
deducted from total carrying amount of the assets and charged to the consolidated statement of income.

Financial liabilities

The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS (39), except for the
treatment of gains or losses arising from an Group’s own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at
fair value through statement of income. Such movements are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to consolidated statement of income.

Trade payables and other credit balances

Trade payables and other credit balances arc obligation to pay for goods or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are initially recognized at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective cost method. Accounts payable
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cyele of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non - current liabilities.

Murabaha

Murabaha represents the amounts due to pay for purchased items on deferred basis as per Murabaha
facility agreements. Murabaha balance is stated at total of the amount payable, net of finance costs
related to the future periods. Finance costs are amortized when matured on a time proportion basis using
the effective cost method.
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3.8

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derccognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in consolidated statement of income.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

Financial instruments and non-financial assets are measured at fair value at the date of each consolidated

financial position statement. Fair value measurement of financial instruments and non-financial assets is

disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. More information on fair value

measurement of financial instruments is disclosed in Note No. 31 (f). Fair value is the price that would

be received to sell an assel or paid 1o transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurement depends on the presumption that the asset

is disposed of or the liability is settled by transferring it through one of the following cases:

» Disposal or settlement to the primary market of asset or liability, or

e In case there is no primary market for the asset or liability, disposal or settlement is done in the
secondary market, i.c. in the most useful market to the asset or liability. In this context, the Group is
supposed to reach the primary market or the most useful market to the asset or liability.

The fair value of asset and liability are measured by using assumptions used by the participants in the

market when pricing the asset or liability, and by assuming that such participants are working to reach

the best achievement of their economic interests.

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets takes into account ability of the participants in the market
to achieve economic benefits for them through the best way of usage at the highest and best level of the
asset, or through selling the asset to another party in the market, that is expected to use the asset in an
ideal way at the highest and best level. The Group uses appropriate valuation techniques that have
available sufficient data to measure the fair value while using maximum observable inputs related to the
asset and reducing usage of the unobservable inputs to the maximum limit.

All assets and liabilities that its fair value is measured or disclosed are classified within the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels: 1. In accordance with quoted prices. 2.
Valuation techniques use prices of observable current market transactions. 3. Valuation technigues use
generally accepted pricing models.

With regard to assets and liabilitics recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
measured at fair value frequently, the Group determines whether there are transfers made between levels
of the fair value hierarchy through reclassification at the end of each reporting period. To present the
disclosures on fair value, The Group determined categories of assets and liabilities taking into
consideration nature and characteristics of the risks related to the asset or liability and level of the
hierarchy referred to above.
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3.

3.9

3.10

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Assets held for sale

Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell,

Assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition. Management abides by sale plan where the sale shall be completely
finished within one year from classification date.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Equity and reserves
Capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium has resulted from issuance of capital for the Company at time of incorporation, It
represents the increased realized above the nominal value of shares of the issued and paid share capital.

Statutory reserve represents amounts deducted from annual profits transferred to this reserve under
provisions of Company’s memorandum of incorporation and articles of association and companies® law.

Results from treasury shares trading are recognized in treasury shares selling reserve.

Profits and losses resulting from some financial instruments are recognized under change in fair value
reserve.

Accumulated losses include realized profits for the current financial year and accumulated losses
carried forward from the previous financial year.

Dividends to shareholders

The Parent Company records an obligation, when approving distribution of cash or non-cash dividends
to its shareholders, when the distribution is not among the Parent Company’s management options. The
Parent Company records the obligation resulted from the cash and non-cash dividends directly in the
liabilities while inserting an offsctting entry within the retained earnings. In accordance with Companies
Law No. 1 of 2016 and its executive regulations as amended, dividends are disclosed when approved by
the Parent Company's shareholders at the annual general assembly meeting.

The non-cash dividends are measured at fair value of assets that will be distributed. Fair value
measurement is recognized directly in equity. When distributing the non-cash assets, the difference
between carrying value of the liability and catrying value of the assets distributed to the sharcholders is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
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3.

3.12

3.13

3.16

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own shares that have been issued, subsequently
reacquired by the Parent Company and not yet reissued or cancelled. Treasury shares are accounted for
using the cost method. Under the cost method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is
charged to a contra equity account. When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited 1o a
separate account in equity (profits reserve on sale of treasury shares) which is not distributable. Any
realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any
excess losses are charged to retained earnings then reserves,

Profits realized subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously
recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the profit on sale of treasury shares
account. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of
treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of
treasury shares.

Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity

Provision is made for amounts payable to employees under the Kuwaiti Labor Law and employment
contracts. This liability, which s unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a result
of involuntary termination on the consolidated statement of financial position date, and approximates
the present value of the final obligation.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the consolidated statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Related party transactions

Related parties represent associates, major shareholders, board members, senior management personnel
and their family members and companies controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. All
related party transactions are carried out with the approval of the Group’s management, and as per
pricing policies approved by the Group's management,

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are
disclosed unless the posgibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
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3.

3.17

3.18

3.20

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences

The Parent Company is legally required to contribute to the Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of
Sciences ("KIAS"), KFAS is imposed at 1% of profit, less unauthorized deductions.

Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the Company’s profit of the Parent Company’s
shareholders less the unauthorized deductions in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No.
5872007 effective as of 10 December 2007.

National Labour Support Tax

The Group caleulates National Labor Support Tax (“NLST”)} in accordance with the Ministry of
Finance resolution No.19 of 2000. NLST is imposed at 2.5% of net profit attributable to sharcholders of
the Parent Company, less unauthorized deductions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. The Group follows a S-step
process:

¢ Identifying the contract with a customer

e Identifying the performance obligations

* Determine the transaction price

e Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

* Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based
on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and
circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The Standard
also specifies method of accounting for the additional costs to obtain the contract and the costs that are
directly attributable to the contract execution. The standard also requires comprehensive disclosures,

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group
satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Camract liabilities & assets

The Group recognizes contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied
performance obligations and reports these amounts as other liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies the performance obligations before it receives the
consideration, the Group recognizes either a contract assets or a receivables in consolidated statement of
financial position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the
consideration is due.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. The Group follows a 5-step
process:

@ Identifying the contract with a customer

¢ Identifying the performance obligations

* Determine the (ransaction price

¢ Aliocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based
on their relative stand-alene selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third partics.

IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and
circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The Standard also
specifies method of accounting for the additional costs to obtain the contract and the costs that are
directly attributable to the contract execution. The standard also requires comprehensive disclosures.

Under IFRS 135, revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group
satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

The Company provides services for supply of employees and workers, third party properties
management and maintenance services and supervision services (“rendering of services™). Revenue from
contracts with customers is recognised overtime at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. The Group has generally concluded that it
is the principal in its revenue arrangements, because it typically controls the services before transferring
them to the customer.

Group’s revenue streams arise from the following activities:

Revenue from rendering third party properties management services

Revenue from rendering third party propertics management and maintenance services s recognised
overtime using an output method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the services,
because the customer simultancously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group as the
Group performs. The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. The Group’s
revenue from contracts with customers involves an insignificant amount of variable consideration and
does not involve any non-refundable up-front fees, significant financing component, noncash
consideration, or consideration payable to the customer.

Revenue from maintenance services is recognised at cost charged on the customer plus a specified profit
margin under the agreement.

Rental income of properties
Rental income of property falls outside the scope of IFRS 15, Rental revenue of property is recognised
on a straight line basis over the contract duration.
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3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)
3.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Real estate sales income

Real estate sales income is recognised on accrual basis, when all the following conditions are met:

= On completion of sale transaction and signing the contracts.

- When value of investment of the buyer (sale value) is sufficient to indicate his commitment {o pay
value of the real estate as at date of the consolidated financial statements.

—Receivables category of the Group shall not be less than the sale in the future.

—When the Group already transferred risks and rewards that form elements of real estate ownership to
the buyer through selling transaction and the Group does not have any continuous substantial
participation in the real estate or its ownership after date of ownership transfer.

If the works required for completing the building can be measured and recorded on an accrual basis
casily, or if such works are not significant as for the total value of the contract and if all abovementioned
conditions are fulfilled except the last condition, the percentage of completion shall be the method
applied in recognizing the revenue.

Other Income
Other income is recognized on accrual basis.

Investiment deposits income
Investment deposits income is recognized using the effective interest method.

Profits on sale of investments
Profit on sale of investments is measured by the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the investment at the date of disposal and is recognized at the same date of the sale.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognized when group’s right to receive payment is established. Group’s right in
such dividends is established when such dividends are announced and approved by sharcholders in
investec companies.

3.21 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity,
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
remeasurement of monetary items at year-end exchange rates are recognized in consolidated statement of

income.

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the date of the
transaction (not retranslated). Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a
functional currency other than KD (the Group’s presentation currency) are translated into KD upon
consolidation. The functional currencies of the entities in the Group have remained unchanged during the
reporting period.

On consolidation, assefs and lHabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the
consolidated financial statements date. Income and expense items are translated into the Group’s
presentation currency at the average rate over the reporting period.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.22 Finance costs

Financing costs primarily comprise costs on the Group’s murabaha. Financing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised during the period of
time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other financing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and are recognised in consolidated statement of
income in the period in which they are incurred.

3.23 L.easing

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease, Initial direct costs incwred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added fo the
carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessee

a) Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognized as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

b}In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expeuse on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Significant accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

Accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has used judgments and made
estimates in determining the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Classification of financial instruments

On acquisition of a financial asset, the Group decides whether it should be classified as "at fair value
through statement of income”, "at fair valuc through other comprehensive income" or “at amortised
cost”. IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed
based on a combination of the Group’s business model for managing the assets of the instrument’s
contractual cash flow characteristics. The Group follows the guidance of IFRS 9 on classifying its
financial assets as stated in Note No. 3.7,

Commitments of operating leases

The Group entered into trade operating leases with other parties. The Group determined, based on review
and assessment of conditions and rules of these arrangements, such as term of leases that does not form a
major part of the economic useful life of properties, and fair value of an asset, and whether it retains ail
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the real estate leased to third parties. Therefore, the Group
accounts Tor all of these contracts as operating lease arrangements.
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4.

Significant accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Accounting judgements (Continued)

The Group’s status as a principal

The Group conducts a revision and assessment to determine whether its current status as a principal or an
agent in its commercial transactions has changed. Such revision and assessment cover any change in the
overall relationship between the Group and other parties dealing with the Group, which may mean that its
current status as a principal or an agent has changed. Such as if changes occurred to rights of the Group or
other parties, the Group would reconsider its current status as a principal or an agent. Initial assessment
considers market conditions that originally led the Group to consider itself as principal working as a main
principal or an agent in arrangements of revenues contracts. The Group concluded that it works as a main
principal in all contracts and arrangements leading to revenues to the Group, except its activity related to
management and maintenance of third parties properties, it works as an agent on behalf of other partics.

Classification of investment properiics
The Group decides on acquisition of properties whether such properties should be classified “for trading”
or “investment properties™.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary
course of business.

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of
development. The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental
income or for capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements within the next financial year are discussed below:

Provision for expected credii losses for irade receivables and other debit balances

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate I3CLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.c., by
geographical region, services type, customer and type). The provision matrix is initially based on the
Company’s historical observed default rates.

The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information.

For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product, stock market capitalization)
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed,

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual defauit in the future. The information
about the ECL on the trade receivables and other debit balances of the Group is disclosed in Note 10.
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4.

Significant accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Valuation of investment of ungquoted equity instriments
Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following recent arm’s length
market {ransactions:
= Current fair value of other instruments that are substantially the same,
= the expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk
characteristics; or

®  Other vatuation models.
The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires
significant estimation.
Investment properties

2018 2017

KD Kb
Balance at 1 January 10,475,745 10,602,180
Transferred from investment properties for trading (Note 9) 1,875,000 -
Change in fair value 462,070 (126,435)
Balance at 31 December 12,812,815 10,475,745
Fair value of the Group’s investment properties was reached to as at 31 December 2018 based on the
valuation done on that date by independent valuers who are not related to the Group. Those valuers are
licensed by the official bodies and they have qualifications and latest experience in valuation of properties
at these locations. Fair value of investment properties is determined based on comparable market prices
which reflect prices of recent transactions for similar real estates and method of net discounted cash flows
model resulted from acquisition of such investments. To estimate the value of such real estates, it has been
supposed that the current usage for the properties is the best usage for the same.
The investment properties by geographical location are as follows:

2018 2017

1¢3) KD
QOutside the State of Kuwait 8,812,815 9,690,745
Inside the State of Kuwait 4,000,000 785,000

12,812,815 10,475,745

Available for sale investments

As at 1 January 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 9. Accordingly, it reclassified available for sale investments
at carrying value of KD 17,486,731 tofinancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(Note 2).

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
As a result of adoption of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018, the Group elected to reclassify investments of KD

3,089,331 and KD 17,486,731 from investments at fair value through statement of income and available for
sale investments respectively to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Notes 2,

6 and 8).
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7. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Continued)

Movement on investments at fair value through other comprehensive income during the year is as follows:

2018 2017

KD KD
Amendments to adoption of IFRS 9 (Notes 2, 6 and 8) 20,576,062 -
Additions during the year 905,195 -
Disposal during the year (2,962,196) -
Change in fair value during the year (724,690) -
Change in fair value due to adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 2) (51,450) -
17,742,921 -

Financial assets at fair value through statement of other comprehensive income are classified as follows:

2018 2017

KD KD
Investment in quoted local shares 6,597,676 -
Investment in unquoted local shares 10,247,688 -
Investment in a local fund 98,106 -
Investment in unquoted foreign real estate shares 799,451 -
17,742,921 -

8. Investments at fair value through statement of income
As at 1 January 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 9. Accordingly, it reclassified Investments at fair value
through statement of income with carrying value of KD 2,357,926 to financial asscts at fair value through
other comprehensive income {Notes 2 and 7).

9. Investment properties for trading
Pursuant to decision of the subsidiary's board of directors (Al-Omran Real Estate Development Company
K.S.C. (Closed)) held during 2018, investment properties held for trading of KID 1,875,000 were

reclassified to investment propetties (Note 5).

10. Trade receivables and other debit balances

2018 2017

KD KD
Trade receivables 798,309 764,572
Provision for expected credit losses (669,843) (669,843)

128,466 94,729
Staff receivables 272,858 274,990
Provision for expected credit losses (262,938) (262,938)

138,386 106,781
Prepaid expenses 25,007 12,866
Refundable deposits 13,050 11,050
Other debit balances 106,969 173,971
Provision for expected credit losses of other debit balances (6,400) -

277,012 304,668
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10. Trade receivabies and other debit balances (Continued)

1

-

12.

13.

14.

15.

The following is the movement on provision for ECLs:

2018 2017

KD KD
Balance at beginning of the year 669,843 567,123
Provided during the year 6,400 102,720
Balance at end of the year 676,243 669,843

Disclosures relating to the credit risk exposure and analysis relating to the provision for ECLs are set forth
in (Note 31).

.Cash and cash equivalents
2018 2017
KD KD
Cash at banks 1,825,348 3,305,147
Investment deposit - 500,000
Cash at investment portfolios 747,558 13,854
2,572,906 3,819,001
Margin deposit with bank 3,008,942 8,942
5,581,848 3,827,943

The investment deposit matures within three months from placement and is automatically renewable.

Savings accounts with an Islamic local bank are dominated in Kuwaiti Dinar and yield rates from such
assets are calculated when declaring the yield by the local Isiamic bank,

Assets held for sale

Asscts held for sale represent net assets of the associate (Kuwaiti African Holding Company) a company
established in the Republic of Tunisia. The Parent Company decided to liquidate the associate due to the
current political situation in the Republic of Tunisia. Liquidation procedures are currently in progress and
this shall be done within a year from the date of these consolidated financial statements.

Share capital

The Parent Company’s authorized, issued and fully paid capital comprises of KD 19,103,898 (31
December 2017: KD 19,103,898) allocated over 191,038,980 shares of nominal value 100 fils per share
(31 December 2017: 191,038,980 shares of nominal value 100 fils per share) and all shates are in cash.

Share premium

The share premium represents increase of the cash collected for the nominal value of shares of the issued
capital, which is not distributable except to the extent stated by law,

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, as amended, and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association,
10% of the net profit for the year is required to be transferred to the statutory reserve until the reserve
totals 50% of the paid up share capital.
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15. Statutory reserve (Continued)

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend
of 5% of paid-up share capital 1o be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the
payment of a dividend of that amount. No transfer to statutory reserve was made because of the
accumulated losses incurred.

16. Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the parent company’s articles of association, a percentage is transferred to the
voluntary reserves as proposed by the board and approved by the general assembly of shareholders. This
iransfer was stopped by a resolution of the ordinary general assembly of sharcholders based on a
proposition from the board of directors. No transfer to voluntary reserve was made because of the
accumulated losses incurred.

17. Treasury shares

18.

19.

2018 2017
Number of shares (share) 2,910,761 2,910,761
Percentage of issued shares (%) 1,52 1.52
Market value (KD) 66,948 80,046
Cost (KD) 1,452,034 1,452,034

The Parent Company’s management has locked off a part of the reserves equal to balance of the treasury
shares as at the reporting date. This balance is not available for distribution during the period in which the
Group retains the treasury shares

Murabaha payable

2018 2017

KD KD
Short-term Murabaha payables 5,711,992 5,711,992
Long-term Murabaha payable 12,780,000 12,780,000
18,491,992 18,491,992

Murabaha payables are granted by local financial institutions.

A local donor bank for the group has filed a lawsuit against the Group of KD 18,491,992 claiming refund

of the finance:

- During the year 2015, a First Instance judgment was issued in favor of the bank, obliging the Group to
pay an amount of KD 5,711,992, Such judgment was appealed during 2016, where the appeal was
rejected and the First Instance judgment was supported. Further, implementation of the First Instance
Jjudgment was paused until the appeal submitted by the Group to cassation court is decided thercon. Till
date of the consolidated financial statements, the case is still being considered before cassation courl.
During 2018, the Court of Cassation rendered a judgment that the appeal filed by the Group is
dismissed and obliged it to repay KD 5,711,992,

- During 2017, a First Instance judgment was issued obliging the Group to pay KD 12,777,565. The
judgment is currently under appeal.

Purchase of land payables

This item represents the value of amount due on purchase of land outside the State of Kuwait.
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20. Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity

The Group calculates its employees” end of service indemnity as per the Kuwaiti labor law. The movement
on this is as follows:

2018 2017
(Restated)
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 833,271 771,600
Charged on consolidated statement of income 256,981 102,020
Paid {161,766) (40,349)
Balance at 31 December 928,486 833,271

21, Provision for potential legal expenses

Provision for potential legal expenses represents value of the legal expenses expected to be paid for the
cases filed against the Group as at 31 December 2018.

22. Trade payables and other credit balances

2018 2017
(Restated)

XD KD
Trade payables 23,746 213,54}
Due to a related party 750,000 750,000
Accrued expenses and leave 212,373 327,821
Third party insurance 123,790 127,832
National Labour Support Tax 3,446 3,446
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences 9,331 -
Zakat 14,096 7,563
Dividends payables 20,016 -
Accrued expenses 14,517 -
Other credit balances 151,459 80,133
1,322,774 1,510,336

Trade payables represent property owners payables resulted from the Group’s collection of rent amounts
from propertics managed by the Group on behalf of others, which is subsequently paid to owners by the
Group.

Third party insurance represents amounts received from tenants that are returned when they are no longer
needed.

23. Related party transactions

Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel, their family
members, and entities controiled or significantly influenced by such parties.

Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Related party
transactions are as follows:
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23.Related party transactions (Continued)

Consolidated statement of income:

Senior management benefits and salaries
Portfolio management fees

Management and maintenance contract income

24. Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue type

Revenue from private contracts - commissiong

Revenue from maintenance contracts for real estate portiolios
Revenue from private contracts - Sharjah building

Income from custody of managed portfolios

Revenue from private contracts - real estate services

Revenue from valuation of third party propertics

Revenue from the Company’s premises

‘Total operating revenue

Customer lypes

Revenue from the Group’s buildings
Revenue from management and maintenance of third party properties
Total operating revenue

Timing of revenue recognition
Proceeds of realized rental during a specified period

25. Operating costs

Lease costs
Costs of management and maintenance of third party properties

26. General and administrative expenses

Senior management benefits and salaries
Staff costs
Other

125

2018 2017
KD KD
234,400 241,200
2,771 2,348
224,967 89,375
2018 2017
KD KD
105,347 112,971
34,445 44,447
14,027 3,270
24,415 31,146
227,568 239,930
7,400 16,000
292,040 288,594
705,242 736,358
2018 2017
KD KD
292,040 288,594
413,202 447,764
705,242 736,358
2018 2017
KD KD
705,242 736,358
705,242 736,358
2018 2017
KD KD
33,703 25,394
466,720 483,803
500,423 509,197
2018 2017
(Restated)
KD KD
234,400 241,200
605,378 508,819
231,350 210,006
1,071,128 960,025
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27, Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences

2018 2017
KD KD
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Science contribution
from the Parent Company - -
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Science contribution
from the subsidiaries 6,356 3,446
6,356 3,446
28. Zakat
2018 2017
KD KD
Current expenses for Zakat from the Parent Company - -
Zakat contribution from the subsidiaries 6,415 1,378
6,415 1,378

29. Basic earnings per share

Basic carnings per share are calculated by dividing net eamings for the year atiributable to the Parent
Company owners by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year taking into
account treasury shares, as follows:

2017
2018 (Restated)
Net profit for the year allributable to owners of the Parent
Company (KD) 104,682 82,904
Weighted average number of outstanding shares, except for
treasury shares (share) 188,128,219 188,128,219
Basic earnings per share (fils) 0.56 0.44

30. Operating Segments

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about the Group’s components which are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to assess its performance. The Group’s
management has classified the Group’s products and services into the operational segments (real estate
management, supervision management, investment properties, and financial investments) according to the
IFRS 8: “Operating Segments’™

The inter transactions between operating scgments are priced at cost. Only the operating segments
revenues from external clients are stated, whereas the inter {ransactions between these segments are
excluded. The operating segments profit represents the profit realized from ecach segment without
distributing the general and administrative expenses and other expenses according to the internal reports
prepared for cach segment.
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30. Operating segments (Continued)
Revenues from operating

segments Operating segments profits
2018 2017 2018 2017
KD KD KD KD
Real Estate Management 705,242 736,358 204,819 227,161
Supervision Management 2,326 - (1,630) (1.401)
Investment properties 592,228 158,877 591,251 (222,558)
Financial investments 406,068 519,018 407,645 1,384,033
1,706,464 1,414,853 1,202,085 1,387,235
Other - 20,459 977) 12,451
1,706,464 1435312 1,201,108 1,399,686
Provision for expected credit losses (6,400) (102,720)
Provision for legal expenses - (245475)
General and administrative expenses (1,071,128) (960,025)
Net profit before National Labeur
Support Tax and Zakat expense 123,580 91,466
Zakat Expense (6,415) (3,446)
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the
Advancement of Sciences (6,356) (1,378)
Net profit for the year 110,809 86,042

The following is the analysis of asscts and liabilitics of operating segments for the purposes of monitoring
segment performance and allocation of resources among them:
As at 31 December

2018 2017
KD KD
Assets
Real Estate Management 124,615 125,043
Supervision Management 144,262 145,015
Investment properties 12,868,799 14,934,497
Financial investments 23,324,769 21,898,779
36,462,445 37,103,334
As at 31 December
2018 2017
KD KD
Liabilities
Real Estate Management 124,813 121,569
Supervision Management 1,287 420
Investment properties 8,041,416 8,763,976
Financial investments 15,150,635 14,524,533
23,318,151 23,410,498
Geographical segments:
Assets Profits
2018 2017 2018 2017
KD KD KD KD
State of Kuwait 27,822,876 25,237,456 (18,372) 44177
Qutside the State of Kuwait 8,819,569 11,865,878 129,181 42,465
36,642,445 37,103,334 110,809 86,642
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31. Financial instruments

a) Capital risk management

The Group objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by
pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group’s sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and
makes adjusiments in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to sharcholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or debts and or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with the industry norm, the Group monitors capital on the basis of percentage of borrowing
rate, which is calculated by net borrowing value divided by total invested capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (murabaha payables) less cash and cash equivalents. Total invested capital is calculated
by total equity and net borrowing.

Geraing ratio

2018 2017

KD KD
Murabaha payable 18,491,992 18,491,992
Cash and cash equivalents (5,581,848) (3,827,943)
Net lending 12,910,144 14,664,049
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 11,029,969 11,630,631
Capital invested 23,940,113 26,294,680
Gearing ratio 53.93% 55.77%

b) Categories of financial instruments

2018 2017

KD KD
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,581,848 3,827,943
Investment at fair value through statement of income - 3,089,331
Trade receivables and other debit balances 252,005 291,802
Available for sale investments - 17,486,731
Financial assets through income and other comprehensive income 17,742,921 -
Financial Habilities
Purchase of land payables 2,329,424 2,329,424
Trade payables and other credit balances 1,322,774 1,510,336

¢} Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge a contractual obligation
causing the other party to incur a financial loss. Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to
credit risk consist principally of cash at banks, short-term bank deposits, receivables and due from related
parties. Receivables are presented net of provision for expected losses.
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31.

¢/

d)

Financial instruments {Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and other debit balances

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognizing lifetime expected credit losses for all trade
receivables and contract assets as these items do not have a significant financing component. In
measuring the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been assessed on a
collective basis respectively and grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected losses rates are based on the payment profile of receivables over 48 past months prior to 31
December 2018 and 1 January 2018 respectively and the corresponding past credit losses during such
period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and forwarding looking macroeconomic factors
affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. However given the short period exposed
to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors has not been considered significant within the
period of consolidated financial statements.

The management elected that the additional expected credit loss of trade receivables and other debit
balances, which were required under IFRS No. 9 were not material. Accordingly, the Group did not
record any additional credit losses of such balances.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognized) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Failure to make payments within 365 days from the invoice date and failure to make an alternative
payment arrangement - amongst other - with the Group is considered indicators of no reasonable
expectation of recovery ad therefore is considered as credit impaired. (Apply and amend as per each client
nature).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the requirements of ECLs in IFRS 9, Cash is placed with
high credit rating financial institutions. Therefore, the Group's management believes that the impairment

loss of cash and cash cquivalents is insignificant.

Credit risk exposure
The book values for financial assets represent the maximum exposure to credit risks. The maximum net
exposure to credit risk for assets categories at the consolidated financial statements date was:

2018 2017

KD XD
Trade receivables and other debit balances {excluding prepaid expenses) 204,805 291,802
Cash at banks 4,235,931 2,040,341

4,440,736 2,332,143

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in
equity prices. Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Group to equity price risk, consist
principally of financial assets at fair value through income and other comprehensive income, financial
investments at fair value through statement of income and available for sale investments. The Group
manages this risk by diversifying its investments on the basis of the predetermined asset allocations across
various categories, continuous appraisal of market conditions and trends and management ¢stimate of long
and short term changes in fair value.
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31. Financial instruments (Continued)

d)  Equity price risk(Continued)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the changes in fair value to reasonably possible
changes in equity prices, with all other variables held constant. The effect of decreases in equity prices is

expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

2018

2017

Effeet on the

Effect on the
consolidated
statement of

Effect on the

Effeet on the

consolidated

statement of
income and other

Change in consolidated income and other Change consolidated
equity statement of comprehensive in equity statement of comprehensive
price income income price income income
Yo KD KD % KD KD

Financial assets at fair value
throngh ether comprehensive
income +5 - 837,146 +5 - -
Investments at fair value
through statement of income +5 - - +5 154,467 -
Available for sale
investments +3 - - +5 - 874,337

e) Foreign currency risk management
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies.
Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The management monitors the positions on a daily
basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The effect on profit (due to change in the fair value of net assets), as a result of change in currency rate,
with all other variables held constant is shown below:

2018 2017

KD KD
Saudi Riyal 8,238,403 10,343,986
UAE Dirham 113 899,854
Bahraini Dinars 487,946 502,590
Omani Riyal 93,107 119,448
8,819,569 11,865,878

Assuming a change in foreign exchange mentioned above by +5%, the statement of income shall be
increased or decreased by an amount of KD 440,978 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (31 December
2017: KD 593,294),

N Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments
associated with financial instruments. To manage this risk, the Group periodically invests in bank deposits
or other investments that are readily realisable. The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure
adequate liquidity is maintained.
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31. Financial instruments (Continued)

i

g

Ligquidity risk(Continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted repayment obligations.

3te12 1to5
31 December 2018 months years Total
KD KD KD
Murabaha payable 5,711,992 12,780,000 18,491,992
Trade payables and other credit balances 1,322,774 - 1,322,774
Provision for potential legal expenses - 245,475 245475
Purchase of land payables - 2,329,424 2,329,424
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity - 028,486 928,486
Total liabilities 7,034,766 16,283,385 23,318,151
3to12 1to%
31 December 2017 months years Total
KD KD KD
Murabaha payable 5,711,992 12,780,000 18,491,992
Trade payables and other credit balances 1,412,647 - 1,412,647
Provision for potential legal expenses - 245,475 245,475
Purchase of land payables - 2,329,424 2,329,424
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity - 833,271 833,271
Total liabilities 7,124,639 16,188,170 23,312,809
Fair value of financial instruments

Valuation technigues and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The identified fair values of financial assets arc as follows:

¢ The fair values of financial assets {(quoted equity securities) with standard terms, conditions, and traded
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

e The fair value of financial assets (unquoted funds and bonds) is determined based on prices from
observation current market transactions.

* The fair values of other financial assets (unquoted equity sccurities) are determined in accordance with
the acceptable pricing models.

Fair value measurements recognized. in the consolidated statement of financial pesition

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial

recognition at fair value, Grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is

observable:

» Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial assets.

e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices).

e Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation technigues that include inputs for the
asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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31. Financial instruments (Continued)

g) Fair value of financial insiruments (Continued)

All assets and liabilities that its fair value is measured or disclosed are classified within the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels; 1: In accordance with quoted prices. 2:
Valuation techniques use prices of observable current market transactions. Level 3: Valuation techniques

use generally accepted pricing models.

To present the note on the fair value, the Group determined categories of asscts and liabilitics taking into
consideration nature and characteristics of the risks related to the asset or liability and level of the

hierarchy referred to above.
31 December 2018

Financial assels at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Quoted equities

Unquoted equities

Managed Funds

Total

31 December 2017

Investments at fair value through statement of

income

Unquoted equities

Quoted equities

Available for sale investments
Quoted equities

Ungquoted equitics

Total

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets:

31 December 2018

Balance at the beginning of the year
Amendments to adoption of IFRS ¢
Change in fair value

Sales

Closing balance

31 December 2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
In other comprehensive income
Sales

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
6,597,676 - 6,597,676
- - 11,047,139 11,047,139
- 98,106 - 98,106
6,597,676 98,106 11,047,139 17,742,921
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
3,089,331 - 3,089,331
3,557,342 - - 3,557,342
- 308,201 13,621,188 13,929,389
6,646,673 308,201 13,621,188 20,576,062
Level 3
Investments at fair Available for
value through sale
statement of income investments Total
KD KD KD
- 13,621,188 13,621,188
13,621,188 (13,621,188) -
522,683 - 522,683
(3,096,732) - (3,096,732)
11,047,139 - 11,047,139
Investments
available for sale Total
KD KD
12,227,263 12,227,263
1,427,192 1,427,192
(33,267) (33,267)
13,621,188 13,621,188

Closing balance
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32. Contingent commitments and Habilities

2018 2017
KD KD
Capital commitments
Bank guarantees 419,856 1,198,590

33. Legal actions and claims

The Parent Company is a party in many legal cases at courts in the State of Kuwait whether as plaintiff or
defendant. Non-fina! judgments have been issued in some legal cases in favor of and against the
Company. Management believes that judgments that are issued against the Parent Company will not have
a financial effect on the Group, because the Parent Company has made sufficient provisions in the
consolidated financial statements to cover the possibilities of issuing final legal judgments against the
Parent Company obliging it to pay compensations.

34. The Parent Company’s ordinary general assembly

On 22 May 2018, the annual general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders approved the
financial stalements for the year ended 31 December 2017 and non distribution of dividends for such

year.

Prior years adjustments

The Parent Company has regularized its affairs with law no. 85 of 2017 regarding amendment of certain
provisions of law no. 6 of 2010 concerning labor in the private sector in accordance with the provisions of
articles applicable in the law. Accordingly, provisions for staff indemmity and stafl leaves were
retroactively recaleulated in accordance with the articles of the law and the Group’s bylaws regulations. It

is resulted in increase of provisions of KD 178,662 as follows:
Restated amount

KD
Increase in provision for staff leaves 97,689
Increase in provision for staff indemnity 80,973
178,662

Accordingly, certain comparative figures have been presented again to include the amendments related to
prior years as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2017
31 December 2017 Before adjustment Adjustment  After adjustment
KD KD KD
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Trade payables and other ¢redit balances 1,412,647 97,689 1,510,336
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 752,298 80,973 833,271
Accumulated fosses (12,218,732} (178,662) (12,397.394)
Consolidated Statement of Income
General and administrative expenses 941,728 18,297 960,025
1 January 2017 1 January 2017
1 January 2017 Before adjustment Adjustment  After adjustment
KD KD KD
Payables and other credit balances 1,518,798 82,3595 1,601,393
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 693,830 77,770 771,600
Accumulated losses (12,319,933) (160,365) (12,480,298)
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